IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC 10-31

JOHN M. BUZIA

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR SEMINOLE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARIA D. CHAMBERLIN Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 664251

MARIE-LOUISE SAMUELS PARMER Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 0005584 Capital Collateral Regional Counsel – Middle Region 3801 Corporex Park Dr., Suite 210 Tampa, FL 33619 (813)740-3544

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal of the circuit court's denial of Mr. Buzia's motion for post conviction relief brought pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural History

Mr. Buzia was convicted of one count of first degree murder, one count of attempted first degree murder, one count of armed burglary of a dwelling with an assault or battery, and one count of robbery with a deadly weapon following a jury trial in March of 2003. The penalty phase began on April 1, 2003 and continued through April 3, 2003. The jury recommended death by a vote of 8-4. The Spencer Hearing took place on August 18, 2003. On March 11, 2004, the trial court sentenced Mr. Buzia to death.

On direct appeal, this Court affirmed Mr. Buzia's convictions and sentence of death. <u>Buzia v. State</u>, 926 So. 2d 1203 (2006). The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari on October 2, 2006. <u>Buzia v. Florida</u>, 127 S.Ct. 184, 166 L.Ed 2d 129(2006).

Mr. Buzia filed a Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence on August 30, 2007. The lower court granted an evidentiary hearing on some claims and summarily denied others.

The lower court conducted the evidentiary hearing on June 23, 2008 through June 27, 2008, and August 27, 2008 through August 29, 2008. The lower court took judicial notice of the entire court file including the Record on Appeal. The

lower court denied Mr. Buzia's 3.851 Motion on September 30, 2009, and his Motion for Rehearing on December 7, 2009. This timely appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Assistant public defenders Tim Caudill and James Figgatt represented Mr. Buzia, with Mr. Caudill as lead attorney. Mr. Caudill handled the bulk of the investigation and preparation of Mr. Buzia's case throughout the three years it was pending trial. ROA Vol. 14, p. 15. Mr. Figgatt did not participate in the mitigation investigation or preparation of Mr. Buzia's case. Id. Doug Harris, the investigator initially assigned to the Buzia case, was removed from the case because of allegations that he was drinking on the job. ROA Vol. 14, p.25; ROA Vol. 15, p. 237-238. During the time Mr. Buzia was pending trial, Mr. Caudill was handling thirty to forty other cases, some capital and some noncapital. ROA Vol. 14, p. 17. Mr. Caudill could recall at least seven or eight capital cases that he was working on during that time frame. Id. at 17-20.

Mr. Caudill went to see Mr. Buzia within a few days of his arrest. <u>Id.</u> at 22. He did not do anything to document the visit, but stated that Mr. Buzia was "a basket case." <u>Id.</u> at 23. He was "tearful," "extremely despondent," "extremely remorseful," and "not very coherent." <u>Id.</u> Mr. Caudill did not bring a video camera to that first meeting nor did he have Mr. Buzia see a psychologist or psychiatrist within those first few days after his arrest to accurately document his

mental state. <u>Id.</u> at 32. Mr. Caudill testified that in one of the death penalty seminars that he attended prior to Mr. Buzia's arrest "there had been a discussion about videotaping first meetings with clients in capital cases because it was *useful* in preserving their mental state or emotional state or remorse or things like that that would have been mitigating, so I was aware of the concept." <u>Id.</u> at 31(emphasis added).

Mr. Caudill did not travel anywhere out of state to interview any mitigation witnesses, despite the fact that Mr. Buzia grew up in the Midwest. Id. at 29. He did not visit the house in Winter Park where Mr. Buzia lived with his stepmother Gail, which was his last permanent residence before the crime. The only mitigation witnesses he spoke to in person were Mr. Buzia's mother, Patty Breslin, his two sisters Mary Perez and Cathy Selje, his brother Jack Buzia, a couple of people at the Mayflower retirement center whose names he could not recall, and Mr. Phillips, who was a friend of the victim. Id. at 30. Mr. Caudill received a list of 140 potential mitigation witnesses from Mr. Buzia. Id. at 35. Mr. Caudill attempted to contact only 36 of those people via a form letter. ROA Vol. 20, p. 1279. If he did not receive a response, he testified that he might send another form letter or try to verify an address through an office database. ROA Vol. 14, p.51. However, neither he nor his investigator went to the actual addresses to follow up on people who did not respond to the letters. Id. at 50-52. At least one of the

letters had typographical errors and was addressed to a nonexistent person. ROA Vol. 20, p.1281. Also, there was at least one occasion where Mr. Buzia was able to locate the telephone number of a witness from a phone book at the Seminole County Jail, when trial counsel had informed him he had been unable to locate that person. ROA Vol. 14, p. 35.

Mr. Caudill stated that the overall theme of the mitigation case was the family substance abuse and how the substance abuse affected John and the rest of the family. Id. at 50. Despite this theme, Mr. Caudill failed to investigate or explain the death of Mr. Buzia's sister, Cathy Selje. Trial counsel failed to locate or introduce the accident and autopsy report of Cathy Selje, which established she was killed by a car while crossing the street carrying a 12 pack of beer. Her blood alcohol level was a .44. Id. at 49. She had been hospitalized with an alcohol delirium less than a month prior to her death. ROA Vol. 16, p. 457. Mr. Caudill also failed to locate or introduce the medical records of Mr. Buzia's brother Jack, who, as a result of falling out of a truck while drinking, hit his head, and remained in a coma for thirty days. ROA Vol. 14, p.50. The hospital records show that Jack was under the influence of drugs at the time. ROA Vol. 8, p. 1400. Mr. Caudill agreed that both of those things would have supported his theory of the devastating effects of addiction on the Buzia family. ROA Vol. 14, p.49-50.

Mr. Caudill did not remember having a face to face conversation with the witnesses who testified at trial prior to their testimony. He admitted he communicated with Bill Bennett, Gary Selje, and Jon Hicks only through letters or telephone calls. <u>Id.</u> at 52-54. As far as Mr. Buzia's niece, Amber Buzia, Mr. Caudill admitted he "never had a conversation with Amber prior to trial." <u>Id.</u> at 53. Ms. Buzia came to court during the trial and, as he described, "I spoke with her then outside the courtroom and learned information from her that she was definitely someone that I needed to use as a witness." <u>Id.</u> at 53. He knew of her because Mr. Buzia had been carrying a sonogram picture of her unborn child at the time of his arrest. <u>Id.</u>

Mr. Caudill received 20-35 letters from friends and family of Mr. Buzia prior to the penalty phase. <u>Id.</u> at 54-55. He had separated out a packet of "good letters" and intended on introducing them into evidence during the penalty phase before the jury. <u>Id.</u> at 55; ROA Vol. 5, p. 924-932. Mr. Caudill had no strategic reason not to introduce the letters in the penalty phase. In fact, when he learned that he had not introduced the letters, "I was surprised because it was part of the plan." ROA Vol. 14, p.61. He testified that it must have been an "oversight." <u>Id.</u>

When Mr. Caudill first met Mr. Buzia he was aware that Mr. Buzia was under the influence of crack cocaine at the time of the crime. <u>Id.</u> at 62. Mr. Caudill filed a motion for preservation of blood and hair samples on March 20,

2000. <u>Id.</u> at 64. The court held a hearing on the motion on March 29, 2000. <u>Id.</u> Prior to the hearing, Mr. Caudill contacted ASA Carter. <u>Id.</u> ASA Carter assured Mr. Caudill that the blood would be preserved and tested for the presence of drugs or alcohol. At the hearing, ASA Carter told the Court that he had directed law enforcement to draw blood from Mr. Buzia on the day of his arrest to test for the presence of drugs and alcohol. ROA Vol. 5, p. 844.

Despite this assurance, the State never tested Mr. Buzia's blood for the presence of drugs or alcohol. ROA Vol. 14, p.66-67. Mr. Caudill relied on the representation of ASA Carter and did not take any independent steps to secure any blood testing until after he received the DNA report in June of 2001 and noticed there were no toxicology results. Id. at 69. Several months after he learned this information, Mr. Caudill filed a second motion for preservation and independent testing in October of 2001. Id. at 72. No one from the defense team ever visited the Sheriff's Office to determine how the blood was preserved. Id. at 71. In November, 2001, the court granted the motion for independent testing. Id. at 73. The blood was sent to Weustoff Laboratories and was tested on December 5, 2001. Id. at 76. Dr. Barbieri explained at the evidentiary hearing, that after 21 months, the cocaine metabolites had broken down, producing a negative result for cocaine. ROA Vol. 16, p.531; ROA Vol. 14, p. 76. Mr. Caudill did concede that "having

actual scientific testing or physical evidence of [Mr. Buzia's] intoxication or drug usage at the time would have been crucial." ROA Vol. 14, p.84.

With respect to failing to file the motion to suppress, Mr. Caudill acknowledged that he never consulted with an expert in toxicology or psychology to try to explain the relationship between Mr. Buzia's drug abuse and his susceptibility to coercive tactics or the effect on his ability to knowingly waive his constitutional rights. <u>Id.</u> at 85. In fact, he conceded that "[b]y the time that we spoke to an expert in toxicology it was too late." <u>Id.</u> (referring to Dr. Buffington).

At trial, the state introduced Mr. Buzia's videotaped statement and played it for the jury. However, the last twenty minutes of Mr. Buzia's videotaped statement were not published to the jury. <u>Id.</u> at 88-89. The last twenty minutes were presented at the evidentiary hearing. <u>Id.</u> at 89-99. In the video, Mr. Buzia was visibly upset and crying, putting his head down and his head in his hands. He also expressed extreme remorse for his actions. Id. at 99, 102.

Mr. Caudill conceded there was no strategic decision not to show it and he could only recall a brief conversation with co-counsel on the matter. <u>Id.</u> at 101. Mr. Caudill recalled when the State referenced the last twenty minutes of the tape and told the jury that portion was in evidence. Mr. Caudill objected, but did not

¹ The complete, unredacted videotape was State's Identification EE at trial and is part of the court file. Id. at 88.

ask for a curative instruction because "I don't believe in curative instructions. I don't think that they do any good." <u>Id.</u> at 103. He testified that he did not know why he did not ask for a mistrial and had no reason not to do so. <u>Id.</u>

With respect to mental health mitigation, Mr. Caudill stated that the defense had hired Dr. Bernstein. Dr. Bernstein saw Mr. Buzia several times, gave him numerous tests, and recommended further testing to "rule out neurological disorders." Id. at 105. Mr. Caudill could not recall whether Dr. Bernstein opined that Mr. Buzia met both statutory mental health mitigators, but conceded that if he did, he would have wanted to present that to the jury. Id. at 106. Mr. Caudill testified that an MRI was done that revealed a venous angioma, a disorder associated with seizures. Id. at 108. After obtaining an MRI, Mr. Caudill contacted Dr. Hall, whom he thought was a neurologist.² Dr. Hall recommended further testing, including a PET Scan. Id. at 110. Mr. Caudill sought and obtained permission from Mr. Russo, the elected public defender, to secure a PET Scan for Mr. Buzia in order to "show cerebral damage from long-term cocaine use." Id. at 110; ROA Vol. 5, p. 853-854. Mr. Caudill conducted research about PET Scans and went as far as to try to schedule one. ROA Vol. 14, p.111, ROA Vol. 5, p. 885-923. However, Mr. Caudill ultimately did not pursue the PET Scan after talking with psychologist Dr. William Riebsame, who told him "he didn't think

² Dr. Hall is actually a psychiatrist, which Mr. Caudill did not learn until his testimony at the evidentiary hearing. ROA Vol. 20, p.1293.

that a PET Scan would provide us with very much additional information. ROA Vol. 14, p. 113-114.

Mr. Caudill agreed that there was no downside to obtaining a confidential neuropsychological workup, and he conceded that what Dr. Riebsame administered was only a *screening* for brain damage. <u>Id.</u> at 115-116. Despite indications from Dr. Bernstein of the possibility of brain damage, and despite a recommendation from Dr. Hall for further imaging of Mr. Buzia's brain, trial counsel did not pursue any additional neurological or neuropsychological testing. <u>Id.</u> Mr. Caudill acknowledged that a complete neuropsychological workup could have established the existence of brain damage, and he conceded that if the results for brain damage were negative, he could have kept that information from the State. <u>Id.</u> at 118.

Mr. Figgatt served as second chair and was responsible for the direct examination of five lay witnesses at the penalty phase. ROA Vol. 15, p.290. He has no recollection of sitting down with any of them prior to them taking the stand to go over their testimony. <u>Id.</u> at 290-292.

Mr. Figgatt was asked if there was a downside of obtaining a confidential neuropsychological workup in Mr. Buzia's case. Mr. Figgatt responded:

A: There would have been absolutely none. If it revealed cognitive deficits, then it would have been the springboard to justify further medical testing of Mr. Buzia to determine whether or not there was brain damage. If it revealed nothing, it went no further.

Q: You would have been able to keep it confidential, correct?

A: I see no downside.

<u>Id.</u> at 302. Mr. Figgatt could not recall any conversations with Dr. Riebsame regarding recommendations about additional testing. <u>Id.</u> at 304. Mr. Figgatt conceded that Dr. Bernstein had written a report that said he suspected Mr. Buzia of having brain damage, yet neither he nor Mr. Caudill did anything to obtain neuropsychological testing to ascertain whether or not Mr. Buzia did in fact have brain damage. <u>Id.</u> at 311.

Mr. Figgatt testified that Dr. Buffington, a toxicologist, was not contacted until after the penalty phase. <u>Id.</u> at 304. He did not have Dr. Buffington talk to any of Mr. Buzia's family members. <u>Id.</u> at 306. He noted, "we didn't have any strategic discussion that said let's hold back Dr. Buffington for the Spencer Hearing. We persuaded one third of that group of twelve that my client should live without him, so I think that we could have gotten two more with him." <u>Id.</u>

Testimony from lay witnesses who testified at the original trial:

William Bennett is an attorney who attended Florida State University with Mr. Buzia. His testimony at trial was interrupted 4 separate times by a live video feed for a defense witness who was supposed to testify after Mr. Bennett. TR Vol. 14, p. 1691-1731. Mr. Bennett's testimony at trial was limited to the fact that he had gone to college with John, that he had some knowledge of his drinking and his

cocaine use, and that he was stunned when he found out Mr. Buzia had committed this crime. The trial court also repeatedly interrupted Mr. Bennett's testimony and told trial counsel to "control your witness" when the court felt that Mr. Bennett was not responding to trial counsel's questions. TR Vol. 14, p. 1717-1719.

At the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Bennett testified that he only had two phone calls with Mr. Buzia's trial attorneys prior to his testimony. ROA Vol. 16, p.414. He was never told anything specific about what they expected his testimony to be. Id. at 415. Mr. Bennett described the day that he arrived at court to testify. He was told that he was not going to testify until the afternoon, but he had arrived early in the morning so that he might be able to speak to the trial attorneys over the lunch break to prepare for his testimony. Id. at 418. When he arrived, Mr. Caudill found him in the hallway and told him he had to go on the stand right then. Id. at 419. He explained:

I told [him] that I didn't think that I should testify to [sic] the afternoon. We hadn't talked about anything and I didn't know what I was going to be testifying for. I was scared.

And, again, because I do have some knowledge of legal issues in this area, I was concerned about whether or not I would say something that I shouldn't say. He told me that they didn't have any witnesses available at that time so they brought me in to the courtroom and when they did, they were doing something with the satellite thing up or a video link-up.

I was completely unprepared. I didn't know what questions would be asked. I had information that I thought would help John's case but I didn't know what they told the jurors. I didn't

know how they prepared them and distinct issues regarding his testimony that I believed could have hurt him - - I believe I could have hurt him if they went in a different direction with their case.

<u>Id.</u> at 419, 421. Mr. Bennett would have testified that went to see Mr. Buzia at the Seminole County Jail shortly after his arrest. Mr. Buzia was a "zombie," he looked terrible, he was not responding to the questions Mr. Bennett asked him, and he seemed like he was in some sort of a fog. <u>Id.</u> at 430-31.

Amber Buzia is Mr. Buzia's niece, the daughter of Mr. Buzia's sister Mary Perez. Her testimony at the original trial was limited to describing how she was related to Mr. Buzia and she testified generally that there were problems with substance abuse in her family. TR Vol. 13, p. 1629-1639.

At the evidentiary hearing, Ms. Buzia testified about the extensive substance abuse in the Buzia family. She indicated that everyone in Mr. Buzia's immediate family had a substance abuse problem including his mother Patty Breslin, his father John Buzia, Sr., his brother Jack, and his sisters Mary Perez and Cathy Selje. ROA Vol. 16, p.452.

Ms. Buzia described her mother Mary drinking and driving on many occasions with her in the car. <u>Id.</u> She explained:

There were instances where she didn't know what kind of car she drove. She would be in the parking lot and walking to random cars and just swerving all over the road at times on a pretty - - fairly regular basis.

<u>Id.</u> at 453.³ Marijuana use and drinking were frequent and permitted in her house while she was growing up. <u>Id.</u> at 456.

Amber described her aunt Cathy's death. <u>Id.</u> Before her death, Cathy was hospitalized for over a month, suffering from alcohol delirium. <u>Id.</u> at 457. When she was released from the hospital, Patty went to the liquor store to buy her more alcohol to drink because "she didn't know what else to do." <u>Id.</u> at 457-58. Shortly after her release from the hospital, Cathy was intoxicated and walking across Colonial Drive carrying a twelve pack of beer. <u>Id.</u> at 545. She walked into traffic and was struck by an oncoming car. <u>Id.</u> at 546. Her blood alcohol level was a .44. <u>Id.</u> Amber also described that when Jack was hospitalized after his fall out of a truck while intoxicated, Patty was again the one who continued to enable his drinking and drug use. <u>Id.</u> at 458.

Amber was never contacted by Mr. Buzia's attorneys until the day she was put on the stand. <u>Id.</u> at 450. The trial attorneys never sat down with her, never explained what questions they were going to be asking, and never let her know what type of information they would be eliciting. <u>Id.</u> Amber was very nervous and emotional, having never testified in court before. <u>Id.</u> at 451. Had she been

³ Ms. Perez was unable to be called as a witness at the evidentiary hearing because she arrived to court intoxicated. She returned the next day, only to be arrested for DUI in the parking lot of the courthouse after sideswiping a deputy's car. ROA Vol. 17, p.655.

asked, she would have testified to the same things at trial that she testified at the evidentiary hearing. <u>Id.</u> at 460.

Robert Smart testified at Mr. Buzia's initial trial. TR Vol. 13, p. 1640-1645. His trial testimony takes up five pages in the transcript and was limited to general testimony about how he met Mr. Buzia, how he used to play outside with him when they were children, and how saddened he was when he learned that Mr. Buzia was arrested for this crime. Id. at 1645.

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