IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC10-31

JOHN M. BUZIA,

Appellant v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR SEMINOLE COUNTY, FLORIDA

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 444 SEABREEZE BLVD., 5th Floor DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA 32118 (386)238-4990 FAX - (386) 226-0457 COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

(3) Failure to request specific verdict form. This appears to be Claim 2h from

the Motion to Vacate, which the trial judge denied as follows:

The Florida Supreme Court has held that there is no requirement for "a special verdict form indicating the aggravating factors found by the jury." *Kormondy v. State*, 845 So. 2d 41, 54 (2003). "[Counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for pursuing futile motions." *Gordon v. State*, 863 So. 2d 1215, 1219 (Fla. 2003). The Defendant's claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to request a specific verdict form should be DENIED as a matter of law.

(V4, PCR727). Buzia further fails to recognize *State v. Steele*, 921 So. 2d 538 (Fla. 2005), and ignores the fact that counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to raise a meritless claim. *Darling v. State/McDonough*, 966 So. 2d 366 (Fla. 2007); *Raleigh v. State/McDonough*, 932 So. 2d 1054, 1064 (Fla. 2006); *Jones v. State/Crosby*, 845 So. 2d 55, 74 (Fla. 2003). *Steele* establishes that this claim has no merit. This claim fails legally and should be summarily denied.

(4) Inadequate mental health evaluation. This issue is not supported by any record cite. It appears to be Claim 3 from the Motion to Vacate, which the trial judge denied as follows:

The Defendant's third claim is that the Defendant's mental health counselor was ineffective for failing to conduct the appropriate tests for organic brain damage and mental illness. The Defendant argues that under *Mason v. State*, 489 So. 2d 734 (Fla. 1986), due process requires competent mental health assistance to ensure fundamental fairness and reliability in the adversarial process. However, the Court in *Mason* was evaluating whether trial counsel was ineffective for not requesting a competency hearing: the court in *Mason* found that counsel was not ineffective as there was evidence that the defendant was competent to stand trial. *Id.* at 736. The effectiveness of counsel regarding the

selection of this expert is covered in ground 1d, but there is no constitutional right to the effective assistance of a mental health expert. Additionally, this is an issue that was or could have been heard on direct appeal and is therefore procedurally barred. *Marshall v. State*, 854 So. 2d 1235, 1248 (Fla. 2003). The Defendant's claim that the Defendant's mental health counselor was ineffective for failing to conduct the appropriate tests for organic brain damage and mental illness should be DENIED. (Emphasis supplied)

(V4, PCR727). This claim is based on *Ake v. Oklahoma*, 470 U.S. 68 (1985) and the issue is procedurally barred because it was not raised on direct appeal. See *Evans v. State/McDonough*, 946 So. 2d 1, 6 (Fla. 2006); *Marshall v. State*, 854 So. 2d 1235, 1248 (Fla. 2003).

All the claims (which *may* have been) raised herein were properly summarily denied. Postconviction claims may be summarily denied when they are legally insufficient, should have been brought on direct appeal, or are positively refuted by the record. *Gore v. State*, 24 So. 3d 1, 11 (Fla. 2009); *Owen v. State*, 986 So. 2d 534, 543 (Fla.2008); *Connor v. State*, 979 So. 2d 852, 868 (Fla.2007). A court's decision whether to grant an evidentiary hearing is subject to de novo review. *See State v. Coney*, 845 So. 2d 120, 137 (Fla.2003). Allegations that counsel was ineffective for not pursuing meritless arguments are legally insufficient to state a claim for postconviction relief. See *Owen v. State*, 986 So. 2d 534, 543 (Fla. 2008); *Melendez v. State*, 612 So. 2d 1366, 1369 (Fla.1992) (holding counsel cannot be deemed ineffective

for failing to make meritless argument).

ARGUMENT 6

TRIAL COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO DISCOVER THAT DONNA BIRKS FINGERPRINT IDENTIFICATION WAS INCONCLUSIVE; THERE IS NO NEWLY-DISCOVERED EVIDENCE; THE STATE DID NOT VIOLATE BRADY V. MARYLAND.

At pages 92-96, Buzia raises several claims regarding fingerprint analyses:

- (1) Counsel was ineffective for filing to hire an independent fingerprint analyst to challenge Donna Birks' fingerprint identification;
- (2) The State violated *Brady v. Maryland* in failing to advise that Donna Birks' fingerprint identification was inconclusive; and
- (3) The inconclusive fingerprint identification is newly-discovered evidence.
- (1) <u>Ineffective assistance of counsel.</u> Regarding hiring an independent fingerprint analyst, the trial court held:

In claim 1e, the Defendant claims that counsel was ineffective for failing to have an independent fingerprint examiner analyze the palm print that was mistakenly identified as the Defendant's. The fingerprint was later determined to be of insufficient quality to make any identification; the Defendant was not excluded as the person who left the bloody palm print.

The Defendant has not met either prong of *Strickland* with regard to counsel's failure to consult an independent fingerprint analyst. At the time of trial, Donna Birks was a respected expert in Seminole County who had over twenty years of experience in fingerprint analysis. Counsel had no reason to believe that she had actually made several improper

identifications since 1998, the year before the murder. Therefore, counsel's decision to expend resources in other areas was not unreasonable because he could not have known that her fingerprint analysis would "later become an issue. The Defendant has also not demonstrated any prejudice by counsel's actions. The other substantial evidence of guilt illustrated above and in the Florida Supreme Court's affirmance of the Defendant's judgment and sentence, clearly shows that Donna Birks' exclusion or impeachment would have had no effect on the trial. Even without the identification, the jury certainly would have inferred that the unidentified bloody print found in the garage belonged to the Defendant, as it corroborated details expressed in his confession.

(V13, PCR2284-85).

These findings are supported by competent, substantial evidence. The trial judge cited the correct *Strickland* standard at the beginning of his order and applied that standard correctly. Buzia's trial was in 2003. The evidence that Donna Birks' fingerprint identifications may not be reliable first became available in 2007. (V6, PCR943). Buzia presented no evidence at the evidentiary hearing to show that a reasonable attorney would have any reason to investigate Donna Birks. Further, if the palm print had insufficient detail to identify anyone, it would not have changed the outcome. Buzia confessed to going into the garage and getting the axe from the top of the cabinet.

(2) <u>Brady</u>. Regarding the alleged *Brady* violation, the trial court held:

In claim four, the Defendant argues that the State violated *Brady* v. *Maryland*. 373 U.S. 83, 83 S. Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed.2d 215 (1963), with regard to the fingerprint evidence and the blood and hair evidence

collected from the Defendant. FN7. In order to prove a *Brady* violation,

a defendant must prove the following: (1) that the Government possessed evidence favorable to the defendant (including impeachment evidence); (2) that the defendant does not possess the evidence nor could he obtain it himself with any reasonable diligence; (3) that the prosecution suppressed the favorable evidence; and (4) that had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, a reasonable probability exists that the outcome of the proceedings would have been different.

Melendez v. State, 718 So. 2d 746, 748 (Fla. 998) (quoting *Hegwood v. State*, 575 So. 2d 170, 172 (Fla. 1991)).

FN7. In the motion, the Defendant alleges a violation of *Giglio* v. *United States*, 405 U.S. 150, 92 S. Ct. 763, 31 L. Ed.2d 104 (1972) as well, but there was no evidence presented of the State knowingly using false testimony to convict the Defendant.

The alleged *Brady* violation is that the State knew or should have known that Donna Birks' fingerprint identifications were questionable as far back as 1998. In actuality, her errors were not discovered until a whistleblower in the Sheriff's Office, Tara Williamson, disclosed her concerns in 2007, four years after the trial. Prior to that, there was no reason for the State to believe that Birks work was substandard. The fact that Ann Mallory, who is not a certified forensic examiner, supervised the department is not a "red flag" as claimed by the Defendant, unless she was actually conducting forensic work. There is no evidence that she was doing so. The Defendant has not provided any other evidence that shows that the State knew or should have known of the problems in the fingerprint department of the Seminole County Sheriff's Office. Therefore, the Defendant has failed to meet his burden with respect to the first prong of *Brady*. Since the State was unaware of the evidence, this Court cannot find that the evidence was suppressed. Thus, prong three of Brady also fails. Finally, as discussed above, the Defendant has not demonstrated that the result of the trial would have been different if the fingerprint evidence was not presented, or even if it was impeached.

The Defendant's fifth claim is that newly discovered evidence of Donna Birks' suspension would probably produce an acquittal at trial. As the State argues, Birks' suspension did not occur until 2007, so the jury could not have heard any evidence of the suspension at the trial in 2003. Even if this were read as a claim that the misidentification of the fingerprint was newly-discovered evidence, that claim would be rejected for the reasons stated in claim 1e.

(V13, PCR2290-91).

These findings are supported by competent, substantial evidence. There was no evidence the State knew, or should have known, that Donna Birks' fingerprint evaluations were inaccurate. The first time any party knew this information was on March 12, 2007, when Tara Williamson filed a memo with her superiors. (V6, PCR943). An administrative review began immediately thereafter. (V6, PCR944). Buzia acknowledges he was notified by the State of that review on May 3, 2007. (V1, PCR31). Buzia has failed to present any evidence that the State knew about Birks Although this Court afforded an before the investigation into her actions began. evidentiary hearing on this matter, the only evidence presented was that the palm print on the cabinet was insufficient to identify. Buzia failed to show that there was any Brady violation, and this claim failed for lack of proof. Reaves v. State, 826 So. 2d 932, 942 (Fla. 2002)(defendant has burden of proof in postconviction proceeding and conclusory allegations fail to meet that burden). Neither has Buzia shown materiality under *Brady* given the overwhelming evidence of guilt. Buzia admitted that he got

the two axes from the garage. The identification of his print is not needed to establish he went to the garage and got the axes.

(3) <u>Newly-discovered evidence.</u> As to the claim of newly-discovered evidence, the trial judge held:

The Defendant's fifth claim is that newly discovered evidence of Donna Birks' suspension would probably produce an acquittal at trial. As the State argues, Birks' suspension did not occur until 2007, so the jury could not have heard any evidence of the suspension at the trial in 2003. Even if this were read as a claim that the misidentification of the fingerprint was newly-discovered evidence, that claim would be rejected for the reasons stated in claim 1e.⁶

(V13, PCR2291).

In *Jones v. State*, 591 So.2d 911 (Fla. 1991), this Court articulated a two-step inquiry for determining whether a defendant is entitled to relief for newly discovered evidence. *McLin v. State*, 827 So.2d 948, 956 (Fla. 2002) (*citing Jones*, 591 So.2d at 915-16). The first prong is that in order to be considered newly discovered, the evidence must have been unknown by the trial court, by the party, or by counsel at the time of trial, and it must appear that defendant or his counsel could not have known [of it] by the use of diligence. *Jones v. State*, 709 So.2d 512, 521 (Fla.1998). The second

⁶ The findings on Claim 1e are in the first section of this argument. The record cite for the findings on Claim 1e is at (V13, PCR2284-85). Included in those findings is that there is no prejudice because in Buzia's confession he states he went into the garage and got a second ax from the top of the shed. This fact is also found in this Court's opinion in *Buzia v. State*, 926 So. 2d 1203 (Fla. 2006).

prong requires that in order to provide relief, the newly discovered evidence must be of such nature that it would probably produce an acquittal on retrial. *McLin*, 827 So.2d at 956 (*quoting Jones*, 591 So.2d at 915).

Buzia presented no evidence that trial counsel knew or could have known of this evidence at the time of trial.

The three claims fail under *Strickland*, *Brady*, and *Jones* on all prongs of all three cases. The evidence of guilt was overwhelming and, even if this evidence were available, it would not have been material under any standard.

ARGUMENT 7

THE STATE DID NOT VIOLATE BRADY V. MARYLAND BY FAILING TO PRESERVE BLOOD SAMPLES.

Buzia alleges the State failed to properly preserve and/or store the blood. As argued at the trial level, this issue was procedurally barred and could have been raised on direct appeal. Buzia alleged this was a *Brady* violation; but failed to explain how the State failed to disclose exculpatory evidence, given the fact that counsel was aware of the situation and there was no exculpatory evidence. In fact, the testimony at the evidentiary hearing showed that even immediate testing of the blood may not have resulted in a positive test for cocaine. This claim is speculative, there has been no showing exculpatory evidence was suppressed, and Buzia cannot show materiality.

To establish a claim based on the State's withholding of material, exculpatory evidence in violation of *Brady v. Maryland*, Downs must establish the following factors:

- (1) that the Government possessed evidence favorable to the defendant;
- (2) that the defendant does not possess the evidence nor could he obtain it himself with any reasonable diligence;
- (3) that the prosecution suppressed the favorable evidence; and
- (4) that had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, a reasonable probability exists that the outcome of the proceedings would have been different.

Melendez v. State, 718 So.2d 746, 748 (Fla. 1998) (quoting Hegwood v. State, 575 So.2d 170, 172 (Fla.1991)).

Buzia failed to establish any of the four prongs. Defense counsel knew the blood existed. There is no evidence of exculpatory evidence.

The trial judge held:

In order to prove a *Brady* violation,

a defendant must prove the following: (1) that the Government possessed evidence favorable to the defendant (including impeachment evidence); (2) that the defendant does not possess the evidence nor could he obtain it himself with any reasonable diligence; (3) that the prosecution suppressed the favorable evidence; and (4) that had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, a reasonable probability exists that the outcome of the proceedings would have been different.

Melendez v. State, 718 So. 2d 746, 748 (Fla. 998) (quoting *Hegwood v. State*, 575 So. 2d 170, 172 (Fla. 1991)).

Fn. 7. In the motion, the Defendant alleges a violation of *Giglio* v. *United States*, 405 U.S. 150, 92 S. Ct. 763, 31 L. Ed.2d 104 (1972) as well, but there was no evidence presented of the State knowingly using false testimony to convict the Defendant. (V13, PCR2290).

Although the trial judge outlined the *Brady* issue, there was no ruling and this issue is waived for appellate purposes. Failing to get a ruling is a waiver of the issue. *Richardson v. State*, 437 So. 2d 1091, 1094 (Fla. 1983); *Rivera v. State*, 913 So. 2d 769 (Fla. 5th DCA 2005).

Thus, this issue is not only waived, but also is procedurally barred. Further, the claim has no merit and fails for lack of proof.

ARGUMENT 8

THERE IS NO ERROR, INDIVIDUAL OR CUMULATIVE

Because Buzia has failed to establish any individual error, there can be no cumulative error. *Israel v. State*, 985 So. 2d 510, 520 (Fla. 2008).

ARGUMENT 9

THE INCOMPETENT-TO-BE-EXECUTED CLAIM IS NOT RIPE FOR REVIEW

Buzia alleges no facts in support of this allegation, nor did he offer any support

of this claim at the trial court. In fact, he even concedes that this claim is not ripe for consideration at this time. (Brief at 100). *See Thompson v. State*, 759 So. 2d 650, 668 (Fla. 2000); *Provenzano v. State*, 751 So. 2d 37 (Fla. 1999); Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.811(d). This claim has no merit. *Johnson v. State*, 804 So. 2d 1218, 1225-1226 (Fla. 2001). This claim should be summarily denied. *See Darling v. State/McDonough*, 966 So. 2d 366 (Fla. 2007).

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing arguments and authorities, Appellee respectfully requests this Honorable Court affirm the order of the trial court and deny all relief.